1
2 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

3
4 No. 85441

Electronically Filed
Feb 09 2023 01:35 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

5
6
7 **JEFFREY A. MYERS and ANDREW JAMES,**

8
9 Appellants,

10
11 vs.

12
13 **THI OF NEVADA AT CHEYENNE, LLC; HEALTHCARE REALTY OF**
14 **CHEYENNE, LLC; FUNDAMENTAL ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES,**
15 **LLC**

16
17 Respondents.

18
19 **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

20 Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court for Clark County

21 District Court Case No. A-16-735550-C

22 (Honorable Mark Gibbons)

23
24 **DONALD C. KUDLER, ESQ.**

Nevada Bar No.: 5041

CAP & KUDLER

3202 West Charleston Blvd.

Las Vegas, NV 89102

(702) 878-8778

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases Cited

1. *Groomes v. Fox*,
96 Nev. 457, 611 P.2d 208 (Nev. 1980)...page 23, lines 26 to page 24, line 1
2. *Jaramillo v. Blackstone*,
01 Nev. 316, 704 P.2d 1084 (Nev. 1985).....page 23, line 13
3. *Lee v. GNLV Corp.*,
116 Nev. 424, 426, 996 P.2d 416 (2000).....page 4, lines 11 to 12
4. *Rees v. Roderiques*,
101 Nev. 302, 701 P.2d 1017 (Nev. 1985).....page 23, lines 19 to 22
5. *Southern Pac. Trans. Co. v. Fitzgerald*,
94 Nev. 241, 244, 577.....page 22, lines 14 to 15
6. *Taylor v. Silva*,
96 Nev. 738, 615 P.2d 970 (Nev. 1980).....page 24, lines 3 to 4
7. *Town & Country Elec. Co. v. Hawke*,
100 Nev. 701, 692 P.2d 490 (Nev. 1984).....page 23, lines 11 to 12
8. *Weaver Bros. v. Misskelley*,
98 Nev. 232, 645 P.2d 438 (Nev. 1982).....page 23, lines 10 to 11

Statutes Cited

1. NRAP 3A(b)(1).....page 4, lines 2,14
2. NRCP 54 (a).....page 4, line 9
3. NRAP 17(b).....page 4, lines 21, 23
4. NRCP Rule 59(a)(1)(E).....page 22, line 17

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 0
- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 0
- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8

(b) Appealable Determinations. An appeal may be taken from the following judgments and orders of a district court in a civil action:

(2) An order granting or denying a motion for a new trial. . .

20

24

25

26

27

1 At the Hearing, Judge Marc Gibbons advised that this Appeal should be heard
2 by the Supreme Court to avoid any appearance of conflict as his brother, Michael
3 Gibbons, is on the Court of Appeals.

4 **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

5 1. Did the Jury Err in finding that the Defendants did not Breach any duty
6 of care owed to the Plaintiffs?

7 2. Did the District Court err by denying the Plaintiffs' Motion for New
8 Trial?

9 3. Did the District Court error by not following the law of the case?
10

11 **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

12 **I. NATURE OF THE CASE**

13 This cases arises out of a June 6, 2014 incident at the Defendants' property.
14 At the time of the incident, the Plaintiffs were working on an electrical panel when
15 one of two screws that had been left on a shelf fell causing a short resulting in an
16 arc flash that injured the Plaintiffs. During this event, the main breaker should have
17 tripped ending the possibility of the arc flash and injuries. At no time did the main
18 breaker trip during this event - it failed to work as intended after not having been
19 inspected or maintained for several years. The case was tried to a Jury from May
20 31, 2022 to June 6, 2022. After hearing the testimony cited below, the Jury
21 concluded that the Defendants were not negligent - that they had not breached any
22 duty owed to the Plaintiffs. (*See* bates nos. AA000943 *through* AA000945). The
23 Plaintiffs filed a Motion for New Trial which was opposed by the Defendants. (*See*
24 bates nos., AA000962 *through* AA000976). The District Court denied the Motion.
25 (*See* bates nos., AA000985 *through* AA000996).

26 ...
27
28

1 **II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS/DISPOSITION**

2 Appellants, Jeffrey A. Myers and Andrew James filed the instant case on May
3 06, 2016. During the Course of Discovery, the Defendants failed to respond and the
4 Plaintiffs were granted a Motion to Compel holding that the Defendants had spoiled
5 evidence and were, therefore, held responsible for the screw that fell. The case
6 eventually came up for Trial on May 31, 2022. After the presentation of evidence,
7 the Court granted Judgment as a Matter of Law in Favor of Defendant Healthcare
8 Realty of Cheyenne, LLC and Defendant Fundamental Administrative Services,
9 LLC on June 14, 2022. The Jury, having heard the evidence cited herein found that
10 the Defendants' did not Breach any duty of care owed to the Plaintiffs. The
11 Plaintiffs filed a Motion for New Trial on July 18, 2022, which was denied by the
12 Court. The Order was filed on September 23, 2022, and the Notice of Entry of Order
13 was filed on September 27, 2022. The Plaintiffs filed the instant Appeal on
14 September 28, 2022.

15
16 **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

17 **Jury Instructions At Issue**

18 The Court read the following Jury Instructions to the Jury: (*See bates nos.,*
19 *AA000038 through AA000041*)

20 **Instruction 22:**

21 Generally, everyone has a duty to exercise reasonable care when their
22 conduct creates a risk of physical harm to others.

23
24 Negligence is the failure to exercise that degree of care which an
25 ordinarily careful and prudent person would exercise under the same or
26 similar circumstances. Ordinary care is that care which persons of ordinary
27

1 prudence exercise in the management of their own affairs in order to avoid
2 injury to themselves or to others.

3
4 You will note that the person whose conduct we set up as a standard
5 is not the extraordinarily cautious individual, not the exceptionally skillful
6 one, but a person of reasonable and ordinary prudence. While exceptional
7 skill is to be admired and encouraged, the law does not demand it as a general
8 standard of conduct.

9
10 Instruction 27:

11 Plaintiffs claim that they were harmed because of the way Defendants
12 managed their property. To establish this claim Plaintiffs must provide all of
13 the following:

- 14
- 15 1. That Defendants controlled the property;
 - 16
 - 17 2. That Defendants were negligent in the inspection, use or maintenance
18 of the property;
 - 19
 - 20 3. That Plaintiffs were harmed; and
 - 21
 - 22 4. That Defendants' negligence was a substantial factor in causing the
23 Plaintiffs' harm.

24 ...

25 ...

26 ...

1 Instruction 28:

2 The owner or occupier of land has a duty to inspect the premises for
3 latent or concealed dangerous conditions not known to them. If reasonable
4 inspection would have revealed a dangerous condition, the owner or occupier
5 of land is charged with constructive notice of it.

6
7 Constructive knowledge of a latent defect may be established by
8 circumstantial evidence.

9
10 Instruction 29:

11 An owner or occupant of land must exercise ordinary care and
12 prudence to render the premises reasonably safe for the visit of a person
13 invited on their premises for business purposes. An owner or occupant of
14 land who knows, or in the exercise of reasonable care should know, of their
15 dangerous and unsafe condition, and who invites others to enter upon the
16 property, owes to such invitees a duty to warn them of the danger, where the
17 peril is hidden, latent, or concealed, or the invitees are without knowledge
18 thereof.

19
20 Plaintiffs' Trial Transcripts for Don Gifford, Roy Comstock, Jeffrey Myers
21 and Andrew James are referenced below as: bates nos., AA000394 *through*
22 AA000463 is the testimony of Don Gifford; bates nos., AA000810 *through*
23 AA000854 is the testimony of Roy Comstock; and bates nos., AA000560 *through*
24 AA000715 is the testimonies of Jeffrey Myers and Andrew James.

25 ...

26 ...

1 **The Defendants Had a Duty to Maintain Their Breakers**

2 The Plaintiffs retained Don Gifford as an expert in this case who testified that
3 Defendants had a duty to maintain the equipment including the breakers at Page 16,
4 line 17 to page 17, line 18 (*See* bates nos. AA000409 *through* AA000410):

5 **Q** Do you have any other opinions in regards to this case?

6
7 **A** Well, yes. College Park has an obligation, just like any operator of a -- of
8 a commercial facility, in any jurisdiction where they adopt, and therefore
9 enforce the national -- National Electrical Code. And where we have Nevada
10 statutes, College Park is required to maintain the electrical gear to provide for
11 a surf -- a safe working environment for their own employees, and therefore
12 for other people who may be in the property. And they failed to do that.

13
14 And I am also critical, based on it is my understanding, and certainly it was
15 my understanding on the date of my inspection of the property at least two
16 years ago, that the circuit breaker that had tripped had never been replaced
17 and the MSA had never been replaced. I'm critical of that.

18
19 **Q** Okay. Do you have any evidence that prior to this incident, let's say in the
20 seven years, that anybody had ever done any maintenance on this equipment?

21
22 **A** Well, I don't know exactly. Based on Mr. Comstock's deposition, he had
23 indicated that, no, nobody had been in there at least for four years. There's a
24 little question about his deposition. It may be four, it may be seven or more
25 years. But based on the fact that there were parts sitting on top of that
26 material, the parts that actually fell, those are not something that are part of

1 the original installation of the equipment.

2
3 Furthermore, in the event where College Park was doing the appropriate job
4 of inspecting and maintaining their equipment, that sort of thing could have,
5 would have in all likelihood been discovered prior to having somebody go
6 into the gear live.

7
8 Mr. Gifford went on to testify that the Defendants were required to maintain
9 the breakers pursuant to law at Page 66, line 22 - page 68, line 5 (*See* bates nos.
10 AA000459 *through* AA000600):

11
12 On the other hand, the OSHA -- the OSHA violations by College Park was
13 the fact that the requirement under 1926 is that the employer, in this
14 particular case, College Park, had an obligation to provide a safe working
15 environment. They had an old electrical panel that had been -- had been
16 opened and something had been done inside of it and people had left
17 materials inside of it that they shouldn't have left. And as time went on,
18 because under the -- under the rules of the National Electrical Safety Code
19 and under the National Electrical Code, the owner of the facility has to
20 maintain and inspect their equipment. Those things were not done. And that
21 comprises an OSHA violation.

22
23 The requirement to maintain the breakers pursuant to law was reiterated by
24 Plaintiff Andrew James testified about the requirements to test and maintain
25 breakers at Page 88, line 23 - page 89, line 10 (*See* bates nos. AA000647 *through*
26 AA000648):

1 Q Okay. Did you assume that this -- these breakers were tested?

2
3 A Yes.

4
5 Q Why?

6
7 A Well, it's required, again, under several federal, state agencies. NFPA
8 requires maintenance and inspection, and all maintenance and inspection
9 shall be documented. The NEC requires the exact same thing. OSHA requires
10 the exact same thing. And because it's a health facility, Center for Medicaid
11 and Medicare Services requires the exact same thing. So going into a medical
12 facility, you assume that since people live there and people's lives are a stake,
13 that they're doing what they're supposed to be doing. And in this case, it's my
14 firm opinion as well as our electrical experts, that they were not doing now.

15
16 **The Defendants Failed to Maintain Electrical**
17 **Equipment Including the Main Breaker**

18 Roy Comstock has worked as the director of the maintenance department for
19 the Defendant since 2007. See, Comstock Trial testimony at Page 6, lines 17 - 25
20 (*See bates no. AA000815*). The testimony cited below demonstrates that the
21 Defendant has not, and does not, conduct regular inspections of the electrical system
22 or conduct any maintenance on it unless something goes wrong.

23 At Trial, Mr. Comstock testified that his responsibilities are to fix things that
24 are broken at Page 11, lines 1 - 7 (*See bates no. AA000820*):

25 Q Okay. What is your job responsibilities?
26
27
28

1 A Well if somebody has say a controller for their bed and it doesn't work,
2 then my job is to determine that it doesn't work and replace it. And I'm to
3 make sure that the facility has lightbulbs, caps that go over the lights. Just
4 about all of the materials in the building. I order those materials. I set up the
5 contracts with the various vendors for jobs that need to be done. That type of
6 thing.

7
8 Mr. Comstock went on to state that his electrical work is limited to minor
9 repairs at Page 16, lines 1 - 9 (*See* bates no. AA000825):

10 Q Do you do any electrical work in the facility?

11
12 A Small stuff, switches, some receptacles, and light bulbs.

13
14 Q Okay. Do you do any electrical work -- first of all, does the facility have
15 electrical panels?

16
17 A They have main electrical panels. Yes, sir.

18
19 Q Right. And you also have a big generator?

20
21 A Yeah. We have a 10 kilowatt generator. Yes, sir.

22
23 Q Okay. Do you do any work on those panels?

24
25 A No, sir.

1 Mr. Comstock further testified that in the SEVEN years before his incident,
2 no one had been in the panels for any reason at Page 21, lines 10 - 16 (*See* bates no.
3 AA000830):

4 Q From 2007 to 2014, did anybody that you were aware of go into that
5 panel?
6

7 A No. Just these gentlemen when they started to work.
8

9 Q Okay. Before these gentlemen -- before they started to work in that panel,
10 was there any other person in that panel that you were aware of?
11

12 A No, sir.
13

14 Mr. Comstock testified that things had been left as they were when originally
15 installed and that no regular inspection by licensed electricians at Page 25, lines 1
16 - 8 (*See* bates no. AA000834):

17 Q Okay. Were they -- were any of the panels labeled beforehand?
18

19 A I don't believe so. No. That's why they said it was all convoluted. It was all
20 just mish mashed. That was from the original installation of the -- from the
21 building when it was built.
22

23 Q Do you know whether or not there were any regular inspection of those
24 panels by a licensed electrician?
25

26 A No. Just a licensed electrician if there's a problem.
27
28

1 Mr. Comstock admitted that they don't keep any log books that would
2 support any claim that they conducted regular inspections and maintenance of the
3 breakers (a claim they did not make to date) at Page 26, lines 18 - 21 (*See* bates no.
4 AA000835):

5 Q I forgot where I was. I was on the log. Let me ask you this. A regular
6 inspection and those panels where a log is kept, how about that?

7
8 A No. No, sir.
9

10 Mr. Comstock, again, confirmed that there were no regular inspections of the
11 electrical panel at Page 33, line 12 - page 34, line 5 (*See* bates nos. AA000842
12 *through* AA000543):

13 Q Now I just want to make clear. The entire time that you've been there, no
14 regular maintenance had been done on that panel, correct?
15

16 A No. the only maintenance that's done is when there's a problem. That's
17 correct.
18

19 Q No regular inspections had been done on that panel ever?
20

21 A Well I can't say ever. I don't know. There was people there before me.
22

23 Q The entire time that you've been there?
24

25 A No. It's only if there's a problem. It isn't like somebody comes out and does
26 the inspection.
27

1 Q Let me ask the question again.

2
3 A The people who inspected it when it was --

4
5 Q Let me ask the question again.

6
7 A Yes, sir.

8
9 Q You do not do regular inspections on that electrical panel or have
10 somebody do them, do you?

11
12 MR. A. GIOVANNIELLO: Objection. Asked and answered.

13
14 THE WITNESS: Yes. I don't. That's correct.

15
16 The failure to maintain the equipment continued even after the arc flash that
17 injured the Plaintiffs as confirmed by Mr. Comstock at Page 38, lines 17 - 22 (*See*
18 *bates no. AA000847*):

19 THE COURT: Was any work done on the electrical panel between ILP
20 [Andrew James] finished? Was there -- was any work done on the electrical
21 panel between when ILP finished their work, and when Helix discovered the
22 screw placed through the electrical wires?

23
24 THE WITNESS: No. No work was done by any other electrical company. It
25 was James, and then Helix.

1 The Court asked Plaintiff Jeffrey Myers about maintenance log books which
2 lead to him testifying that he would expect the Defendants to have fulfilled their
3 duty and maintained the equipment at Page 57, line 25 - Page 58, line 9 (*See bates*
4 *nos. AA000616 through AA000617*):

5 THE COURT: Is it part of your process to check maintenance logs before you
6 perform work on a breaker? Were those logs checked?

7
8 THE WITNESS: No logs were made available for me to check.

9
10 THE COURT: You mentioned the breaker had not been properly maintained.
11 Are you required to continue working on equipment if it hasn't been properly
12 maintained?

13
14 THE WITNESS: Well, I can only say that I believe that it wasn't maintained
15 after that incident. Before that incident, all you can do is assume that it had
16 been.

17
18 Mr. James again discussed the requirement to maintain the equipment at Page
19 120, line 17 - page 121, line 4 (*See bates nos. AA000679 through AA000680*):

20 Q Okay. If there's no labeling why would you do the work on that panel?

21
22 A Because it's a general assumption -- well, first of all, NFPA says anything
23 under 240 volts, there's a specified level of PPE. We were wearing that level
24 of PPE. Plus, as you know, there are requirements under CMS, NFPA, NEC,
25 OSHA for this facility to be testing and inspecting this equipment, and they
26 did not do that,

1 Q But you don't really know that they did not do that, right? You have no
2 evidence that they didn't do that at all, right?

3
4 A Evidence in this case, yes.

5
6 Q But what's that?

7
8 A They couldn't produce any log books. Roy Comstock's deposition says that
9 they didn't do it. Yes. There's absolutely evidence.

10
11 Mr. James again discussed the requirement to maintain the breaker and the
12 failure to do so at Page 148, line 23 - page 149, line 19 (*See* bates nos. AA000707
13 *through* AA000708):

14
15 THE COURT: How do you test a circuit breaker without a test slash reset
16 button?

17
18 THE WITNESS: So the only real way to test a breaker is to do a manual
19 reset. So, Eaton Manufacturing, who now owns the subsequent companies
20 that bought Westinghouse that manufactured that breaker, they have
21 maintenance requirements that are required, you know, under Medicaid,
22 Medicare, under the NFPA, under the NEC, under OSHA -- it all refers to
23 manufacturer-recommended maintenance intervals. Eaton, who now owns the
24 company that built that breaker, their manufacturer's inspection internals are
25 every three years, that breaker is supposed to be manually tripped, manually
26 turned off, manually turned back on.

1
2 My belief is that breaker was never tested like that. There's no inspection
3 reports of it, because also Eaton says inspections shall be documented.
4 NFPA, NEC, OSHA, and CMS all say all inspection -- all inspection and
5 maintenance activities shall be documented. Shall is the operative word there.
6 It's not an option. They're required to actually document every time that
7 breaker was tested, per the manufacturer's specifications. They could produce
8 none of that evidence, which tells me it was never tested. Ever. It was never
9 inspected, it was never tested, and there was no log book ever made. So the
10 only way to really test that breaker is to manually turn it off and turn it back
11 on.

12 **The Main Breaker Failed**

13 Plaintiffs' expert Don Gifford testified that the main breaker should have
14 tripped nearly immediately which would have prevented the arc flash from
15 occurring but that it did not trip as it should have at Page 14, lines 10 - 22 (*See* bates
16 no. AA000407):

17 And when that happened, two things are supposed to happen. One is just a
18 natural outgrowth of the laws of physics; there is going to be some kind of
19 an arcing event, and it may be a large explosion or a small explosion. The
20 second thing that can happen in the event where the circuit breaker protecting
21 that particular layout is not functioning properly, it's really important -- just
22 like the brakes on your car, when you're going 70 and somebody pulls in
23 front of you going 30 and you hit the brakes, you want to be able to stop
24 immediately.

25
26 Just like that, a circuit breaker controlling the electrical wiring in this panel,

1 when that arc occurred, the circuit breaker is supposed to trip almost
2 instantaneously. It should trip within just a very tiny fraction of a second. In
3 this particular instance, that circuit breaker did that trip for
4 several seconds.

5
6 Mr. Gifford offered further proof that the main breaker failed at Page 67, line
7 7 - page 68, line 5 (*See bates nos. AA000460 through AA000461*);

8
9 THE COURT: How does the witness determine the length of time the circuit
10 breaker was delayed?

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