IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 85441

Electronically Filed Mar 09 2023 04:30 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

JEFFREY A. MYERS and ANDREW JAMES

Appellants,

VS.

THI OF NEVADA AT CHEYENNE, LLC; HEALTHCARE REALTY OF CHEYENNE, LLC; FUNDAMENTAL ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES, LLC

Respondents

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court for Clark County

District Court Case No. A-16-735550-C

(Honorable Mark Gibbons)

ALEXANDER F. GIOVANNIELLO

Nevada Bar No.: 11141
GIOVANNIELLO LAW GROUP
3753 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 200-399
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
Counsel for Respondents

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

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

suddenly left the center turn lane, a place of safety, and walked into the path of the vehicle when it was so close that it was impossible for the driver to stop the vehicle to yield to the plaintiff. *Id.* (emphasis added). The Court additionally noted that the testimony at trial indicated that it was not impossible for the jury to conclude that the plaintiff was more at fault than the driver and reach their verdict. *Id.* at 319, 1087.

Again, here, like *Jaramillo*, there are multiple avenues wherein the jury could have determined that College Park was not negligent in the instant matter as addressed above. Appellants simply failed to prove a prima facie case, and the jury either disregarded Appellants' expert testimony, or believed that Appellants were the cause of their own injury. Instead, Appellants place blame on the jury, instead of themselves, for failing to prove their theory of the case. Here, the jury was properly instructed, Appellant Andrew James specifically testified that there was an inspector on scene prior to Appellants beginning their work who noted there was an issue with the breaker, and Appellants work included replacing the breaker that the inspector noted was an issue. [See bates nos. AA000627, lines 12-25, AA000628, lines 1-12] Despite Appellants argument, College Park must have properly determined that the breaker needed to be replaced and hired Appellants to replace said breaker—which is assuredly what the jury determined. Appellants' argument that the only way the jury could come to their verdict was by determining College Park had no duty to maintain the breakers is clearly misplaced and can only be viewed as Appellants sour grapes that they failed to prove their theory of the case.

Next, Appellants rely upon *Rees v. Roderiques*, 101 Nev. 302, 701 P.2d 1017 (1985). In *Rees*, the plaintiff brought action against the defendant doctor claiming the defendant was negligent in her medical treatment of the plaintiff and, as a result, the lower portion of the plaintiff's leg required amputation. *Id.* The district court granted the plaintiff's motion for new trial on the basis that the jury misapplied and/or misunderstood instructions dealing with standard of care and proximate

cause, causing the defendant to appeal. Id.

In *Rees*, the plaintiff visited the defendant doctor with her right leg in severe pain, exhibited difficulty walking, and her lower right leg was swollen. *Id.* at 303, 1018. The defendant examined the plaintiff, diagnosing her with varicose veins, instructed the plaintiff to wear an elastic stocking to support the veins and reduce the swelling, and scheduled another appointment for the plaintiff two days later. *Id.* When the plaintiff returned to the defendant's office, she exhibited a black right foot with red streaks, causing the defendant's office to send the plaintiff to another doctor, who diagnosed the plaintiff with early gangrene of the right foot. *Id.* at 303-4, 1018. The plaintiff received surgery on the right leg, but the leg could not be saved and required amputation below the knee. *Id.* Upon conclusion of the trial, the jury found for the defendant, causing Plaintiff to move for a new trial. *Id.* The district court granted the motion for new trial on the basis the jury had misapplied and/or misunderstood the instructions of law dealing with standard of care and proximate cause. *Id.* at 304, 1019. The defendant's appeal followed. *Id.*

The instant case is distinguishable from the facts of *Rees*. Clearly, there was no alternative theory as to why the jury reached its verdict in *Rees*—no fault could be attributed to the plaintiff, and multiple experts testified that the defendant breached the standard of care. *Id.* at 304-5, 1019-20.

Here, however, as noted above, there are multiple possibilities as to why the jury reached its verdict, namely that they simply did not believe (and thus disregarded) Appellants' expert's testimony (which is not grounds for a new trial pursuant to *In re Scott*, *infra*), or that the jury believed the Appellants were the cause of their own injury. Further, Appellant Andrew James' own trial testimony reflects that there was an inspector present prior to Appellants beginning their work that noted the breaker at issue required replacement, and Appellants were hired to replace the same breaker. [*See* bates nos. AA000627, lines 12-25, AA000628, lines 1-12] As such, whereas in *Rees* the defendant had no evidence to contradict the

testimony provided by the plaintiff, here College Park had evidence to contradict Appellants' testimony with testimony of Roy Comstock, and with Appellant Andrew James' own testimony that an inspector had inspected the area prior to his beginning work at College Park. [See bates nos. AA000627, lines 12-25, AA000628, lines 1-12; see also bates nos. AA000628, lines 18-25, AA000629, lines 1-16] Therefore, Rees is inapplicable to the instant matter.

Further, Appellants conveniently failed to note that the *Rees* holding was recently distinguished in *Rives v. Center*, 485 P.3d 1248, 2021 WL 1688014 (2021). *Rives* held that it was distinguishable from *Rees* because there, the defendant failed to proffer any evidence to the contrary of the plaintiff's testimony, whereas in *Rives* there was ample testimony to contradict the plaintiff's testimony. *Id.* at *4. *Rives* held that the jury's verdict was not "impossible" because the jury could have reasonably found based on the evidence presented that the plaintiff was solely responsible for the compensable injury even if the settled defendant's conduct fell below the standard of care, or that the jury could have disregarded the expert's testimony that the settled defendants contributed to the injuries in some measurable or compensable way, per *In re Scott*. The *Rives* court further held that the decision to grant or deny a motion for new trial rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, and it would not disturb that decision absent **palpable abuse**. *Id.* at *3 (emphasis added).

Again, in the instant matter College Park presented contradictory evidence to Appellants' testimony and Appellants' expert's testimony, namely that the area was inspected prior to the Appellants beginning their work, and that Appellants caused their own injuries due to their own negligence. Given this evidence, it is not impossible for the jury to have reached their verdict without disregarding the jury instructions. Therefore, *Rees* is inapplicable to the instant matter whereas *Rives* is applicable, as there was no "manifest disregard" or "palpable abuse" in the instant matter.

1 | (2 | (1 | d) | d) | (1 | d) | (2 | d) | (3 | d) | (4 | d) | (5 | d) | (6 | d) | (7 | d) | (7

Next, Appellants rely upon *Groomes v. Fox*, 96. Nev. 457, 611 P.2d 208 (1980), a decision containing roughly three paragraphs of information. In *Groomes*, the taxicab passenger plaintiffs brought action to recover damages from the taxicab driver and his employer for injuries sustained in an automobile collision. *Id.* The jury found for the defendant, and the district court granted a new trial on the ground that there had occurred manifest disregard by jury of instructions of the court, particularly instruction concerning duty of care owed by a common carrier to its passengers. *Id.* The defendant appealed. *Id.*

The plaintiffs in *Groomes* were passengers for hire in the cab driven by the defendant. *Id.* at 458, 208. Before picking up the plaintiff, the defendant noticed that his brakes were "mushy," radioed that information to the dispatcher and was told to bring the cab back to dispatch after his next fare. *Id.* The plaintiffs were the defendant's next passengers. *Id.* While proceeding south on Las Vegas Boulevard, the defendant entered the left turn lane to enter the Sands Hotel when the car in front stopped suddenly—the defendant applied his brakes but could not stop. *Id.* The Supreme Court of Nevada held that had the jury paid due regard to the instructions of the court regarding the heightened duty of care owed by a common carrier to its passengers, it was not possible to return a defense verdict. *Id.*

Groomes is clearly inapplicable to the instant matter, as in Groomes there were no other possibilities for the jury to determine that the defendant was not negligent, especially considering the heightened duty of care owed by a common carrier to its passengers. Here, as noted above, there are multiple theories in which the jury determined College Park was not negligent, such as the jury disregarded the testimony of Appellants; the jury disregarded the testimony of Appellants' expert's testimony; the jury determined the Appellants were negligent and caused their own injuries; or the jury determined the Appellants were not wearing proper protective gear ("PPE") in completing their work. Appellants allege that the jury disregarded the instructions regarding College Park's duty of care to maintain its

premises but fail to rectify Appellant Andrew James' testimony that an inspector had previously inspected the area, and that College Park retained Appellants to replace the breaker at issue. [See bates nos. AA000627, lines 12-25, AA000628, lines 1-12; see also bates nos. AA000628, lines 18-25, AA000629, lines 1-16] Clearly, there is no evidence that the jury disregarded the jury instructions and simply did not believe Appellants' theory of their case.

Finally, Appellants rely upon *Taylor v. Silva*, 96 Nev. 738, 615 P.2d 970 (1980). In *Taylor*, the plaintiff brought action against the defendant earthmoving company to recover for personal injuries sustained when the defendant's earthmover turned right, hitting the front left fender of the plaintiff's car, throwing the plaintiff across the inside of her car. *Id.* After trial, a jury returned a special verdict finding that defendants were negligent but that their negligence was not the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries, causing the plaintiff to move for new trial. *Id.* The district court granted the plaintiff's motion for new trial, causing the defendant to appeal. *Id.* The Supreme Court of Nevada held that under all the circumstances including the fact that there was no intervening force between the defendant's negligence and the collision, the jury could not have found an absence of proximate cause if it correctly applied the law, and a new trial was required. *Id.*

The plaintiff in *Taylor* was driving eastbound on Williams Street following an earthmover driven by the defendant. *Id.* at 740, 971. The earthmover straddled both eastbound lanes, and as the vehicles approached the intersection of Williams and Taylor Streets, the traffic signal turned red. *Id.* Believing the earthmover would continue upon Williams Street, the plaintiff drove her car to the right of the earthmover, in what would have been a parking lane but for the red curb and prepared to turn right onto Taylor Street. *Id.* As the plaintiff was about to turn, the earthmover turned right, hitting the front left fender of the plaintiff's car causing the plaintiff to suffer neck injuries. *Id.* During the trial, the plaintiff argued that the defendant negligently failed to signal the turn, to equip the earthmover with signals,

to look before turning, to equip the earthmover with a rearview mirror, and to have an escort car. *Id*.

The Supreme Court of Nevada held there was no intervening force between the defendant's negligence and the collision, the type of harm was foreseeable, and that the plaintiff's contributory negligence could reduce her recovery under comparative negligence but does not negate a finding that the plaintiff's negligence was a proximate cause of her injuries. *Id.* at 741, 971. The Court concluded that the jury was adequately instructed as to proximate cause, and had the jury correctly applied the law, it could not have found an absence of proximate cause. *Id.* The Court continued that a general verdict in favor of the defendant would only have been correct if the plaintiff's negligence was greater than the defendant's, and since that was not the case, the only remaining possibility for the jury's verdict was that it did not understand the difference between proximate cause and comparative negligence. *Id.* at 741, 972.

Again, as with the previously noted cases relied upon by Appellants, the *Taylor* matter is wholly inapplicable to the instant matter. In *Taylor*, there was no other possible reason the jury could have reached the verdict it reached without misunderstanding the difference between comparative negligence and proximate cause, as the jury did not apportion fault to the plaintiff. *Id.* Here, there are multiple possibilities as to why the jury found College Park to not be negligent, as noted *infra*. Again, there is simply no contradictory evidence that College Park failed to maintain the area when an inspector was retained to inspect the area at issue, the inspector notified both College Park and Appellants of an issue with the breaker, and Appellant Andrew James' testimony that he was retained to replace the breaker at issue. [*See* bates nos. AA000627, lines 12-25, AA000628, lines 1-12; *see also* bates nos. AA000628, lines 18-25, AA000629, lines 1-16]

Given the above, none of case law relied upon by Appellants applies to the instant matter. As noted throughout this brief, there were multiple reasons for the

212223

20

2425

2627

28

jury to determine College Park was not negligent, including the jury found the testimony of Appellants as not credible; the jury found the testimony of Appellants' expert's testimony as not credible; the jury determined the Appellants were negligent and caused their own injuries; or the jury determined the Appellants were not wearing proper protective gear ("PPE") in completing their work; or that College Park maintained its duty to maintain the breaker based upon Appellant Andrew James' testimony that an inspector had inspected the area prior to Appellants beginning their work along with his testimony that Appellants were hired to replace the breaker at issue. [See bates nos. AA000627, lines 12-25, AA000628, lines 1-12; see also bates nos. AA000628, lines 18-25, AA000629, lines 1-16] NRCP 59(a)(1)(E) requires a manifest disregard of the jury instructions wherein the court must find that the only reason the jury reached its verdict was because it failed to understand or follow jury instructions. College Park provided contradictory evidence to Appellants' allegations, including evidence that refutes the testimony of Appellants Andrew James and Jeffrey Myers, and Appellants' expert's testimony. There is simply no avenue the court can take to find that there was palpable abuse, as the court need not determine how the jury reached its conclusion; it need only determine whether it was possible for the jury to do so. Town & Country Elec. Co. v. Hawke, 100 Nev. 701, 702, 692 P.2d 490, 491 (1984). As noted above, the court will determine that it was more than possible that the jury reached the conclusion that College Park was not negligent.

II. Appellants Did Not Raise the Issue of the Motion for Judgment As A Matter Of Law in Their Moving Papers and Thus Admit that Respondents Healthcare Realty of Cheyenne, LLC, and Fundamental Administrative Services, LLC, Were Properly Adjudicated from this Matter

Respondents note that Appellants failed to raise any issue with the trial court granting its Motion for Directed Verdict in favor of Defendants Healthcare Realty and FAS. As this court is well aware, it is well established in Nevada that an

appellant's failure to timely raise an issue in its briefing on appeal, even if it raised the issue before the district court, generally results in a waiver of that issue. Kahn v. Morse & Mowbray, 121 Nev. 454, 480 n.24, 117 P.3d 227, 238 n.24 (2005). As such, as Appellants failed to raise this issue in its Motion for New Trial, it has waived any ability to argue that the Motion for Directed Verdict was improper. Further, Respondents note that Appellants simply ignored the District Court's ruling regarding Respondents' Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law in an attempt to lump all the Respondents into one order that Appellants failed to adequately address in their Opening Appellate Brief. As such, Appellants failed to address Respondents' Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law at both the trial stage and the appellate stage and thus any argument including Respondents Healthcare Realty and FAS are moot as untimely. ///

13

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

14 ///

15 ///

16 ///

17 ///

18

///

19 ///

20 ///

21 ///

22 ///

23 ///

24 ///

25 ///

26 ///

27 ///

28 ///

2 3

4

5 6

7

8 9

10

11

12 13

Dated: March 9, 2023

14

15

16 17

18

19 20

21

22

24

23

25

26 27

28

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